IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

LESTER HACKLEY,

Respondent.

CASE NO. SC10-2316

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

TRISHA MEGGS PATE
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0045489

SAMUEL A. PERRONE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0017444

PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4582 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE
WHETHER BURGLARY OF A CONVEYANCE WITH PERSON ASSAULTED QUALIFIES FOR ENHANCED SENTENCING AS A PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER?
CONCLUSION
SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY AND CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

TABLE OF CITATIONS

<u>PAGE(S)</u>
Borden v. East-European Ins. Co., 921 So.2d 587 (Fla. 2006) 7
Harris v. State, 5 So.3d 750 (Fla. 1st DCA 2009) 11
Shaw v. State, 26 So.3d 51 (Fla. 5th DCA 2009) 4,5,11,13
Spradlin v. State, 967 So.2d 376 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007) 7,10
State v. Hackley, 35 Fla. L. Weekly D2436a (Fla. 1st DCA Oct. 29, 2010) 6,13
State v. Hearns, 961 So.2d 211 (Fla. 2007) 8,9,10
Sutton v. State, 975 So. 2d 1073 (Fla. 2008) 4
Thompson v. State, 695 So.2d 691 (Fla. 1997) 6
Tumblin v. State, 965 So.2d 354 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007) 7,9
FLORIDA STATUTES
§ 775.082(9)(a)1, Fla. Stat 4,5,6,8,11
§ 776.08, Fla. Stat
§ 784.011(1), Fla. Stat
OTHER
Fla. R. App. P. 9.210

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, the Appellant in the First District Court of Appeal and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner, the prosecution, or the State. Respondent, LESTER HACKLEY, the Appellee in the First District Court of Appeal and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent or his proper name.

The record on appeal consists of three (3) volumes, which will be referenced as "RI," "RII," and "RIII," respectively, followed by any appropriate page number.

All emphasis through bold lettering is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On October 4, 2006, following a jury trial, Respondent was convicted of Burglary of a Conveyance with Person Assaulted (RI 45). On October 30, 2006, Respondent was sentenced as a Prison Releasee Reoffender to a term of Life incarceration (RI 49,51). On June 2, 2009, Respondent filed a Motion to Correct Illegal Sentence (RI 63-64). In his Motion, Respondent alleged his life sentence was illegal, asserting his conviction for Burglary of a Conveyance with person Assaulted did not qualify for enhancement sentencing as a Prison Releasee Reoffender (RI 63). On July 23, 2009, the trial court granted Respondent's Motion, setting the

case for resentencing (RI 71-74). On December 29, 2009, Respondent was re-sentenced to a term of seventy-five months incarceration (RI 96). On January 6, 2010, Petitioner filed a Notice of Appeal challenging the trial court granting of Respondent's Motion to Correct Illegal Sentence (RI 104). On October 29, 2010, the First District Court of Appeal, through a written Opinion, affirmed the trial court's grant of Respondent's Motion to Correct Illegal Sentence, certifying conflict with the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in Shaw v. State, 26 So. 3d 51 (Fla. 5th DCA 2009). See State v. Hackley, 35 Fla. L. Weekly D2436a (Fla. 1st DCA Oct. 29, 2010).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE

The First District Court of Appeal erred in affirming the trial court's holding that Respondent's Prison Releasee Reoffender (PRR) sentence based on his conviction for Burglary of a Conveyance with Assault was improper. The offense of Burglary of a Conveyance with Assault, though not listed as an enumerated offense under section 775.082, does qualify for PRR sentencing under subsection (o), the "catch-all" provision. Subsection (o) provides that any felony involving the use or threatened use of physical force or violence against another constitutes a PRR offense. As the Fifth District Court of Appeal held in Shaw v. State, 26 So.3d 51 (Fla. 5th DCA 2009), upholding a PRR sentence based on Burglary of a Conveyance with an Assault, Burglary is a felony, and Assault always involves an intentional threat by word or act to do violence to another. Thus, pursuant to the clear language of section 775.082, Respondent's conviction qualifies for sentencing as Accordingly, the First District's decision in the instant case should be disapproved, the decision in Shaw approved, and the case remanded back to the trial court to resentence Respondent as a Prison Releasee Reoffender.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

WHETHER BURGLARY OF A CONVEYANCE WITH PERSON ASSAULTED QUALIFIES FOR ENHANCED SENTENCING AS A PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER?

Standard of Review

A pure question of law is reviewed de novo. See Sutton v. State, 975 So. 2d 1073, 1076 (Fla. 2008).

Merits

The State asserts the First District Court of Appeal erred in holding Respondent's sentence as a Prison Releasee Reoffender (PRR), based on his conviction for Burglary of a Conveyance with Assault, was improper. Although not listed as an enumerated offense under section 775.082(9)(a)1, Florida Statutes, the State argues that Burglary of a Conveyance with Assault falls under subsection (o) of the PRR statute, the so-called "catch-Specifically, section 775.082(9)(a)1.o., all" provision. provides that a defendant, who commits or attempts to commit, "any felony that involves the use or threat of physical force or individual," qualifies violence against an for sentencing as a Prison Releasee Reoffender. In contrast to the First District's holding, the Fifth District Court of Appeal, in Shaw v. State, 26 So. 3d 51 (Fla. 5th DCA 2009), held that Burglary with an Assault does fall under the catch-all provision since an Assault, "always involves an 'intentional, unlawful threat by word or act to d violence to the person of another, coupled with an apparent ability to do so." *Id.* at 53 (citing § 784.011(1), Fla. Stat. (2007)). Accordingly, the State requests this Court quash the decision of the First District in the instant case, approve the decision in *Shaw*, and remand this case back to the trial court with instructions for Respondent to be resentenced as a PRR.

Section 775.082(9)(a)1, Florida Statutes, provides that a Prison Releasee Reoffender means any defendant who commits, or attempts to commit:

- a. Treason;
- b. Murder;
- c. Manslaughter;
- d. Sexual battery;
- e. Carjacking;
- f. Home-invasion robbery;
- q. Robbery;
- h. Arson;
- i. Kidnapping;
- j. Aggravated assault with a deadly weapon;
- k. Aggravated battery;
- 1. Aggravated stalking;
- m. Aircraft piracy;
- n. Unlawful throwing, placing, or discharging of a destructive device or bomb;
- Any felony that involves the use or threat of physical force or violence against an individual;
- p. Armed burglary;
- q. Burglary of a dwelling or burglary of an occupied structure; or
- r. Any felony violation of s. 790.07, s. 800.04, s.
 827.03, s. 827.071, or s. 847.0135(5).
 (emphasis added).

An Assault is defined as:

an intentional, unlawful threat by word or act to do violence to the person of another, coupled with an apparent ability to do so, and doing some act which creates a well-founded fear in such other person that such violence is imminent.

§ 784.011(1), Fla. Stat. The State asserts that based on the clear language of both sections 775.082 and 784.011, a Burglary with an Assault constitutes a felony involving the use or threat of physical force or violence. Specifically, the fact that there must be a showing of threat by word or act to do violence to another provides the "necessary" involvement of the "use or threat of physical force or violence as required by subsection (o). Thus, unlike a Battery which can involve mere touching, a Burglary with an Assault necessarily involves a threat to do violence to another.

In the instant case, the First District affirmed the trial court's ruling, asserting that to do otherwise would result in an "absurd consequence," whereby defendants committing a burglary with an assault would then be motivated to commit a battery in order to avoid PRR sentencing. See State v. Hackley, 35 Fla. L. Weekly D2436a (Fla. 1st DCA Oct. 29, 2010). As a basis for its decision, the First District cites this Court's decision in Thompson v. State, 695 So.2d 691 (Fla. 1997), which asserted that a statute must be interpreted in such a way as to

avoid a construction that would result in unreasonable, harsh, or absurd consequences. The State, however, notes that where a statute is clear and unambiguous, "courts will not look behind the statute's plain language for legislative intent or resort to rules of statutory construction to ascertain intent." Borden v. East-European Ins. Co., 921 So.2d 587, 595 (Fla. Moreover, the First District's decision is based solely upon conjecture, imparts an advanced level of understanding as to Florida sentencing law on all defendants, and fails to address how a Burglary coupled with an unlawful threat by word or act to do violence to another does not constitute a felony that involves the use or threat of physical force or violence against another. Beyond stating that the Legislature could not have intended for an offense involving an Assault to be punished greater than an offense involving a Battery, the First District failed to make any determination, nor conduct any analysis, as to whether Respondent's offense falls under the "catch-all" provision of the PRR statute.

The trial court held that Respondent's PRR sentence was improper based primarily on the holdings in *Tumblin v. State*, 965 So.2d 354 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007) and *Spradlin v. State*, 967 So.2d 376 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007), both of which merely applied this Court's decision in *State v. Hearns*, 961 So.2d 211 (Fla. 2007)

in ruling that a PRR sentence based on simple battery is improper. None of these cases, however, including *Hearns*, assert or intimate that a felony involving an Assault does not qualify for enhanced sentencing under the PRR statute.

In Hearns, this Court held that Battery on a Law Enforcement Officer (BOLEO) did not qualify for enhanced sentencing under Violent Career Criminal (VCC) Statute. t.he This Court determined that BOLEO, essentially, is simple battery with the only difference between the two offenses being the status of the victim and penalty imposed, converting a first degree misdemeanor into a third-degree felony. Thus, in analyzing whether simple battery/BOLEO qualified for enhanced sentencing under the VCC statute, this Court first looked at whether the offense was listed as one of the enumerated offenses in the VCC statute, section 775.084(1)(d)(1), Florida Statutes Noting that simple battery/BOLEO was not listed, this Court then determined whether simple battery/BOLEO constitutes a forcible felony, as described in section 776.08, Florida Statutes¹. Section 776.08, defines a forcible felony as:

treason; murder; manslaughter; sexual battery;
carjacking; home-invasion robbery; robbery; burglary;

This Court noted that, in discussing what constitutes a "forcible felony," section 776.08 and section 775.082(9)(a)(1) use identical language in terms of what qualifies as a requisite felony for purposes of the forcible felony statute and the PRR statute.

arson; kidnapping; aggravated assault; aggravated battery; aggravated stalking; aircraft piracy; unlawful throwing, placing, or discharging of a destructive device or bomb; and any other felony which involves the use or threat of physical force or violence against an individual. (emphasis added).

Although some types of battery are listed as forcible felonies, there was no such listing for BOLEO/simple battery. Id. at 217. Thus, this Court determined that in order to qualify as a forcible felony it must fall within the "catch-all" provision relating to "any other felony which involves the use or threat of physical force or violence against an individual."

Ultimately holding that BOLEO/simple battery does not constitute a forcible felony, this Court noted that "any intentional touching, no matter how slight," constitutes a battery. *Id.* at 218-19. As a result, the offense lacked the requisite use or threatened use of physical force or violence necessary to be considered a "forcible felony." *Id.* at 219.

In *Tumblin*, the defendant was convicted of Burglary of a Dwelling with an Assault or Battery, and was sentenced as a PRR. Applying *Hearns*, the Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed the defendant's sentence, holding that since Battery can be committed by an unlawful "touching," it did not "necessarily include the threat or use of physical force or violence." *Id*. at 356. In *Spradlin*, the defendant was convicted of simple

battery, which became punishable as a felony since it was the defendant's second battery conviction, and was sentenced as a PRR. As in *Tumblin*, the Fourth District simply applied *Hearns* in holding that simple battery does not qualify as a PRR offense.

The primary difference between the cases cited by the trial court and the instant case is the offense upon which the PRR sentence was based. Clearly, this Court's decision in Hearns does not permit a PRR sentence based on simple battery, which was involved in Hearns, Tumblin and Spradlin. Further, none of these cases hold that a felony with an Assault cannot qualify as a PRR offense. Although Tumblin involved a conviction for Burglary with an Assault or Battery, the fact that the conviction could have been based on the commission of Battery, which could in turn involve a simple touching, makes it a non-qualifying offense for PRR sentencing. Ιt is ambiguity in the nature of the conviction, i.e., Assault or Battery, that provides the basis for an application of Hearns. In other words, since the conviction could be based on the Battery, it lacks the clear determination that the offense was "necessarily" committed with the threat or use of physical force or violence," since, as Hearns clearly provides, simple battery can occur through mere touching.

In Shaw v. State, 26 So.3d 51 (Fla. 5th DCA 2009), on the other hand, the Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed a PRR sentence based on a conviction for Burglary of a Conveyance with Assault. Distinguishing the case from those cited by the defendant pertaining to convictions for a felony with a simple battery, the Fifth District held:

Undisputedly, burglary is a felony. By definition, an assault always involves an "intentional, unlawful threat by word or act to do violence to the person of another, coupled with an apparent ability to do so...." § 784.011(1), Fla. Stat. (2007). Consequently, under the statutory elements test, burglary of an occupied conveyance with an assault qualifies as an offense under the catch-all provision of the PRR statute, and Shaw was properly sentenced as one.

Id. at 53. See also Harris v. State, 5 So.3d 750, 751 (Fla. 1st DCA 2009)(holding resisting an officer with violence to his or he person qualifies as a PRR offense, since "[o]ffering to do violence plainly involves the 'threat of physical force or violence' while actually doing violence plainly involves the 'use...of physical force or violence.'")(quoting § 775.082(9)(a)1.o., Fla. Stat. (2006)).

The State argues that the analysis, rationale, and ultimate holding of the Fifth District in *Shaw* was correct and should be approved by this Court. For an Assault to occur, there must be a showing of an intentional threat by word or act to do violence to another. Thus, Burglary of a Conveyance with Assault becomes

a felony that necessarily involves the use or threat of physical force or violence against another. Accordingly, based on the clear language of the PRR statute, as well as the requirements for an Assault, the State avers Respondent was properly sentenced originally as a Prison Releasee Reoffender, and this Court should remand to reinstate that original sentence.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the State respectfully submits the decision of the First District Court of Appeal at State v. Hackley, 35 Fla. L. Weekly D2436a (Fla. 1st DCA Oct. 29, 2010) should be disapproved, the opinion in Shaw v. State, 26 So. 3d 51 (Fla. 5th DCA 2009) approved, and the instant case remanded to the trial court for resentencing Respondent as a Prison Releasee Reoffender.