## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

State of Florida Petitioner

v.

CASE NO. SC10-2316

LESTER HACKLEY RESPONDENT.

\_\_\_\_\_/

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ORIGINAL

> Barbara Hobbs, Esquire Attorney for Respondent FLORIDA BAR NO. 336297 462 W. Brevard Street Tallahassee, FL 32301 (850) 224-3730 (850) 224-2202 fax hobbsbarbara@yahoo.com

May 9, 2011

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, Lester Hackley, was the defendant in the trial court and the Appellant in the First District Court of Appeal and will be referred to as Respondent, or by proper name, Appellee, the State of Florida, was the prosecution in the trial court and the Appellee in the First District Court of Appeal and will be referred herein as Petitioner and as the State.

The record on appeal consists of three volumes, which will be referenced as "RI,", "RII", and "RIII" respectively followed by any appropriate page number.

All bold type emphasis is supplied, and all other emphasis, is contained within original quotations unless the contrary is indicated.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent adopts the State's Statement of the Case and Facts and incorporated them herein by reference.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The First District Court of Appeal was correct in affirming the trial court's holding that Respondent's Prison Releasee Reoffender (PRR) sentence based on his conviction for burglary of conveyance with person assaulted was improper.

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

WHETHER BURGLARY OF CONVEYANCE WITH PERSON ASSAULTED QUALIFIES FOR ENHANCED SENTENCING AS A PRISON RELEASE REOFFFENDER?

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

A pure question of law is reviewed de novo. <u>Sutton v.</u> <u>State</u>, 975 So.2d 1073, 1075 (Fla. 2008).

#### MERIT

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

a.

BURGLARY OF CONVEYANCE WITH PERSON ASSAULTED WAS NOT INTENDED BY THE LEGISLATURE TO BE INCLUDED AS QUALIFYING OFFENSE FOR SENTENCING AS A PRISON RE-LEASEE REOFFENDER.

Section 775.082, Florida Statutes requires a defendant to be sentenced as a prison releasee reoffender (PRR) if the defendant is convicted of committing a qualifying offense enumerated in the provision and the offense was committed within three (3) years of the defendant being released from prison. The offense, burglary of conveyance with person assaulted, upon which the Respondent was convicted is not specifically enumerated as a qualifying offense.

Although argued conversely by the State, burglary of conveyance with person assaulted should not be included as a qualifying offense under Section 775.082(9)(a)1. The

Florida legislature did not intend a simple assault couple with a felony to be included in the "catch all" provision because the provision does not included the language or definition of a simple assault. The elements of an assault are defined in Section 784.011, Florida Statutes:

> An "assault" is an intentional, unlawful threat **by word** or act to do violence to the person of another, coupled with an apparent ability to do so, and doing some act which creates a well founded fear in such other person that such violence is imminent.

An assault under Section 784.011 therefore can be committed by simple words or by an act. The language "unlawful threat by word" is not included in the "catch all" provision of Section 775.082 which necessarily distinguishes the kind of threat or use of physical force or violence intended by the Legislature to form the basis for enhanced sentencing. The inclusion by the Legislature the offense of aggravated assault in Section 775.082(9) (a)1(1)makes the point imminently clear.

Section784.021, Florida Statutes defines aggravated assault as an assault:

(a) With a deadly weapon without intent to kill; or

(b) **With** an intent to commit a felony.

It is clear that construing the enhancement statute in pari materia with Sections 784.021 and 784.011, Florida Statutes, the Legislature did not intend to

criminalize mere words but acts that involve the use of or threat of physical force or violence. The Legislature intended acts such as that required for an aggravated assault, an assault with a deadly weapon. If the Legislature had intended simple assault with mere words to be included in the enhancement statute it would have included the specific language of simple assault in the "catch all" provision instead a portion thereof. The Legislature not including the specific language or elements of simple assault in the "catch-all provision" of Section 775.082(9(a)1.0 and not including the offense of burglary of conveyance as an enumerated qualifying offense leads to but one conclusion that burglary of conveyance with person assaulted is not a qualifying offense for which the Respondent can be sentenced as a prison release reoffender.

b.

UNDER THIS COURT'S ANALYSIS IN <u>STATE V. HEARNS</u>, 961 So. 2d 211 (Fla. 2007) BURGLARY OF CONVEYANCE WITH PERSON ASSAULTED SHOULD NOT BE INCLUDED AS QUALIFYING OFFENSE FOR SENTENCING AS A PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER.

This Court in <u>State v. Hearns</u>, held that Battery on a Law Enforcement Officer (BOLEO) was not a qualifying offense under the Violent Career Statute. This Court determined that BOLEO was nothing more than a misdemeanor simple battery made a third degree felony only because of

the status of the alleged victim, to wit law enforcement officer.

The same analysis this Court did in <u>Hearns</u> is instructive to analyzing the PRR statute in this case. First, this Court looked to the Section 775.084(1)(d)(1) to see if the BOLEO was listed as an enumerated qualifying offense. This Court concluded BOLEO was not enumerated qualifying offense.

Second, this Court determined whether BOLEO was a forcible felony under Section 776.08, Florida Statutes. Forcible felonies under Section 776.08 and the PRR statute contain identical language.

Section 776.08, Florida Statutes, defines a forcible felony as:

treason; murder; manslaughter; sexual battery; carjacking; home-invasion robbery; robbery; burglary; arson; kidnapping; aggravated assault; aggravated battery; aggravated stalking; aircraft piracy; unlawful throwing, placing, or discharging of a destructive device or bomb; and any other felony which involves the use or threat of physical force or violence against an individual.

As in the instant case, this Court in <u>Hearn</u> was left with having to determine whether BOLEO was a forcible felony under the "catch all" provision of "any other felony which involves the use or threat of physical force or

violence against an individual. This Court determined that BOLEO did not constitute a forcible felony because it could include intentional touching ever so slight.

This Court should also find that simple assault coupled with burglary of conveyance should not be included as a forcible felony because it could include even less violent conduct than a simple battery. It could include "mere words" and absolutely no physical act on the part of the defendant as would not be the case of aggravated assault which require the threat to included use of a deadly weapon. Surely, if this Court does not believe that a simple battery should not be included as a forcible felony then an assault with "mere words" should not be included as a qualifying offense for purpose of PRR.

с.

BURGLARY OF CONVEYANCE WITH PERSON ASSAULTED SHOULD NOT BE INCLUDED AS QUALIFYING OFFENSE FOR SENTENCING UNDER PRR TO AVOID AN INTERPETATION OF THE PRR STATUTES THAT IS UNREASONABLE, HARSH OR HAS ABSURD CONSEQUENCES.

As noted by the First District Court of Appeal in <u>State of Florida v. Hackley</u>, 35 Fla. L Weekly D2436a (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA Oct. 29, 2010),

a basic tenet of statutory construction compels a court to interpret a statute so as to avoid a construction that would result in unreasonable, harsh or absurd consequences. Thus to avoid the absurd consequences of encouraging a defendant who has already committed burglary with an assault to put the victim in physical danger by committing a battery to avoid the possibility of PRR sentencing, [it) affirm the trial court's order.

It seems absolutely absurd to subject a Defendant to life in prison for threatening someone with "mere words" while committing a burglary of a conveyance and at the same time subjecting a Defendant to only 15 years of incarceration if the Defendant hits or actually does violence to a victim during the course of the burglary.

The most logical interpretation of the PRR statute is that burglary of conveyance person assaulted is not a qualifying offense for PRR as is burglary with person battered.

## CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the Respondent respectfully request this Court affirms the First District Court of Appeal's decision at <u>State v. Hackley</u>, 35 Fla. L. Weekly D2436a (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA Oct. 29, 2010).